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—-——- Upon commencing at 10:03 a.m.

THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: I
should say before we begin that I plan to sit a little
later today in an effort to make sure that we complete

the cross-examination and re-examination of the

witness.

Who's -- who's going first?

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: I am,
Commissioner. And I -- I propose to examine from

here, which may make it --

THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: That -
- that's fine.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: —-— goO more
quickly, and I won't have my back to Mr. Chenoweth the
entire time.

THE REGISTRAR: Ms. Cooper, you
understand you're still under oath?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I do.

SANDRA COOPER, Previously Sworn

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL:

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Good morning,

Ms. Cooper.
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: Good morning, Mr.
McDowell.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: I -—- as I said
to you before your examination began, I may
unconsciously lapse in the calling you Your Worship on
the way through this, and I apologize if I do.

So, let me start with a couple of
points from thirty thousand (30,000) feet, as it were.
You ran your campaign in the 2010 election on a
platform of reining in Town spending; that was a big
theme?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That was, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And as part of
that, paying down the debt was a big part of it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And the idea for
the sale of all or part of Collus was that the Town
would get an infusion of cash?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That 1is correct.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And in that
way, could pay down the Town's debt?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. It was
fulfilling the needs of the community, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. So —-

and we'll get to this ultimately in part 2 of the

DIGI-TRAN INC. 403-276-7611
Serving Clients Across Canada




Transcript Date April 25, 2019

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

inquiry, but that's not really what happened with the

proceeds of the sale, I take it, that they were used

to -- to build this recreational complex?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Partly that.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. Now the

second overarching set of points is that Mr. Bonwick,
your brother, was involved in this transaction at many
points. At the beginning, he saw the draft of your
message requesting evaluation of Collus Power.

We heard that evidence? You have to
say yes or no for the record.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Sorry. Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And then he
wrote a draft of your remarks for Council at the in
camera Council meeting concerning the results of the
RFP? He reviewed that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. He provided.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right, and I --
I take your point that you didn't use all of his
draft, but -- and then lastly, he was involved when
the transaction closed in convening a meeting with the
Town's lawyers Jjust before the closing. We heard that
evidence yesterday?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: We did.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: He was advising
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PowerStream for much of 2011 and 2012. We've seen
some of that evidence?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: We have seen that
evidence on the foundation documents.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And I
just -- I want to ask you at the very beginning of the
examination, as you have read the foundation document,
and you've heard some of the evidence, do you think
that Mr. Bonwick was involved in this Collus
Transaction too much, with the benefit of hindsight?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: With the benefit
of hindsight, I -- I think that perhaps.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right.
Okay. So let's turn to sort of the broader question
of conflicts of interest. So as I heard your
evidence, you looked at conflicts of interest by
looking at the Municipal Conflict of Interest Act?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And I just
wanted to pull up a document called the Declaration of

Office, which is TLC55939.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: All right. So
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let's scroll right to the bottom of

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL:

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL:

then is there a -- a page 1 of this

is the one (1) that you -- if we go

the one (1) that you executed. And

this.

Keep going.

All right. And

document?

So this

to the bottom --

it says:

"I make this solemn promise and

declaration consci
believing it to be
that it is of the
effect as if made
You see that?
MS. SANDRA COOPER:
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL:
that --
MS. SANDRA COOPER:

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL:

entiously,
true, and

same force

under oath.

Yes.

And you

Yes.

knowing

and

A

signed

-—- before Ms.

Almas? So this is something you have to take

seriously, I take it?
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: All right.
Then if we scroll back up. If we look at number 1:

"I will truly, faithfully, and
impartially exercise this office to
the best of my off -- my knowledge
and ability."

That was part of this, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Correct.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And
"impartially" forms a big part of this, obviously,
impartially exercising your office?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that is part
of the sentence.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Part of the
sentence, but it's part of the legal obligation, too,
isn't it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It's part of the
obligation, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And if we turn

up the Code of Conduct, which I think is TOC534828, so

if we -- i1if we scroll down, the first paragraph there,
stopping, "They," speaking of members of Council:
"..are also expected to carry out

their duties in a fair, impartial,

10
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transparent, and professional
manner."

Do you see that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So

impartiality, again, is a part of this?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And

transparency's a part of it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And just keep
going down to the very bottom. So there, you signed
at -- at the top of the list as the mayor?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Correct? You

have to say yes oOor no, Sorry.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right. So
let's leave that for the moment. Let me ask you some
questions about Mr. Bonwick. Obviously, he's an

experienced politician, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. I would say
that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: He had served

on Council in the '90s. 1Is that right?
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: That is correct.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And then he was
a member of Parliament who was elected and then
reelected to Parliament, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: He was a privy
Councillor?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: He -- he was. I
don't know today if he is. I think --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Well, I think -
- I think he still is. 1It's a -- I think it's a
lifetime appointment.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Okay. Then yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: He was —-- he
was involved in your election campaigns, I take 1it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, to a degree,
yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And as an
accomplished politician, that was a useful thing to
have?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Was he involved

in fundraising for you?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: It was out of my

hands, I believe, as mayor. It was others that were --
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So there was a
committee?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And he was on

the committee, I assume?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: He would be there
on occasion, yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And who were
the others on the committee?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Going back to
2010, it would have been Duncan Hawkins —-- Duncan

Hawkins, Mr. Brian Hickey --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Yes.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: -- Ms. Ann Gage --
it's -- it's --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Mr. -- Mr. Emo,

would he be one (1) as well, or?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, Mr. Emo.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. And is
Mr. Houghton involved in fundraising for you?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Mr. Bonwick
advised you on important matters involving the Town, I
take it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't know 1if I
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would call it that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Well, what do
you struggling --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Provide --

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: -— "important,"
is that the problem, or?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: -—- suggestions.
No, no, provide suggestions.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. But
that's advice, isn't it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would say
suggestions, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And his
suggestions were important to you, I assume?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Certainly, I would

consider advice, yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So if we turn

up paragraph 36 of the foundation document.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: SO —-— oops.
There we go.
So it -- this records some of the

advice that Mr. Bonwick gave you on the lead-up to the
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budget deliberations in 20117

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, as other
residents had as well.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. So he
has some quite specific advice. And I know that one
(1) of the things you testified about is that you
wanted to preserve good jobs in Collingwood?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And you made
the point, which I think is a good one, that
otherwise, people are left with minimum-wage service
industry jobs?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: They're
struggling, vyes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And so
one (1) of the things that Mr. Bonwick suggested was
cutting the economic development bud -- budget by two
hundred and fifty thousand dollars ($250,000), right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That's what it
says.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And if you want

to attract new Jjobs, that seems sort of
counterintuitive.
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Okay. And is

15
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that a suggestion of his that you -- that you cast

aside, or did you move in the direction of cutting the
economic development budget?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: The budget
deliberations were Council participation, and economic

development over my time was certainly enhanced in

attracting jobs or -- or job retention.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay, let --
can we turn up -- I think it's TOC41596.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So these are
the remarks that he had drafted for you. Did you
adopt most of these remarks?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: If T can just take
a moment and read?

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Of course. Go
ahead.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Thank you.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MS. SANDRA COOPER: So could you now

repeat your question, please.
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MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Well, it's
really -- it's testing your memory, but as you look at
these draft remarks, would you have delivered more or
less this set of remarks?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It would be
certainly in the forefront for me. I did work in the
community, live in the community, and I was fully
aware of challenges.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Sure, but --
but there are a number of times in the foundation
document where Mr. Bonwick drafts remarks for you.

And just looking at this occasion, would you have more
or less adopted the text that he had proposed?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: More or less, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Now, is it fair
to say that during your time as mayor, you had a close
relationship with Mr. Bonwick?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No more than most
of my siblings.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Would you speak
to him weekly?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It may be one (1)

week, and then not again for some time.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: You're in

contact by email as well?
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: On occasion.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Just as a
general proposition, I take it that what he
communicated to you about the business of the Town
mattered to you?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: The business of
the Town did matter to me, vyes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Yes. But what
he thought about it mattered to you?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would guess he
thought it mattered to me. He had just come off --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: No, no. It's
whether I -- it's whether you thought it mattered to
you that I'm keen to hear about.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It was important
for me to hear from residents, and certainly
confirming that there -- there was a need to be a
focus there.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay, but I --
I want to be fair to you. I -- I'm suggesting to you
that what Mr. Bonwick thought about these issues
mattered more to you than what the average resident

thought?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Well, I was coming

in as mayor and it did matter to me. However, it

18
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also, I would say equally, mattered to all of the
residents, all the taxpayers.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And
just for perspective, I take it you had worked at one
(1) of the grocery stores?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I did work in
retail, yes, for --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: For --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: -— for over thirty
(30) years.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: -- for thirty

(30) years. And so in that job, you get to know the
community?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And so you're
probably approachable in a way that other mayors were
not, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Correct.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Because you're

a familiar, friendly face, I take it.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would think so.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. Now let
me just touch on confidentiality a bit, here. Can we

go back to the Code of Conduct, which is 0534828.

That's the Code of Ethics rather than the Code of

DIGI-TRAN INC. 403-276-7611
Serving Clients Across Canada




Transcript Date April 25, 2019

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

20
Conduct?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
(BRIEF PAUSE)
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: TOC, sorry. So
if we scroll down -- so it's number 2, I think, use of

information. So that says:
"In their decision-making process,
members of Council are sometimes
privy to information which may be
confidential or controversial, such
as but not limited to in camera
meetings.

There's a list of bullet points. The

first one (1) is, not use confidential information for

their personal advantage. That was an obligation?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Not use

confidential information to cause detriment or benefit

to others, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Respect the
status of confidential -- and it says in parentheses,

" (Personnel, legal, property acquisition)," in
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parentheses:
"(information until the matter
ceases to be confidential as
determined by Council)."
And that was an important one, I take
it?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: All important,
yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So in your

capacity as mayor, you were privy to a lot of
information in these different categories, personnel
information, legal information?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And you accept
that you had a duty to keep in confidence many Town
matters that came out of your task?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Correct.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And so just
touching on legal matters, whether or not the Town
would seek legal advice on a particular matter is a
confidential item, I take it.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, unless
there's something that can be shared that is indicated
can be shared.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Right. But the
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starting point is that legal advice that is going to

be given to the Town is confidential?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So I wanted to

have a look at TOC44451.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Then just have

a look at that one.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Do you recall
this email?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. And can

we turn up TOC444587?

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So then

scrolling down...

(BRIEF PAUSE)
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So this is an

exchange between you and Mr. Bonwick in which he
attaches the email that we've just seen, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And if we
scroll up, there's the discussion there between Mr.
Bonwick and Mr. Houghton. Mr. Bonwick says:

"The matter is being discussed with
Chadwick, and he has agreed to back
down at this time. Sandra will ask
you tomorrow to secure a legal
opinion on the matter on the
matter."

And the matter, I take 1t, was whether
or not the salaries of Collus employees had to be
disclosed under Freedom of Information legislation?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That was what
Councillor Chadwick had asked for at the time --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. So that

was the issue.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: -— as had others
in the community. Yes.
MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: And 1if we keep

scrolling up, Mr. Houghton thanks him and then Mr.

Bonwick at the top has a comforting email about
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getting rid

me.

That was --

taking this

24

of stress.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: And that wasn't to

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: No, I know.
that was to Mr. Houghton. But -- so just

--— and if we go back to 44451, so this is

the email that you in fact sent, I take it, to members

of Council?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Right. And the

way that you dealt with this issue was that in fact

you did commission a legal opinion?

with others,

was aware.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, 1in notice
and that's -- and -- and then everyone

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. So —-—

MS. SANDRA COOPER: And there is no

legal opinion here.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And I

appreciate that, but Mr. Bonwick is discussing with

you whether

opinion, on

or not the Town is going to get a legal
a personnel matter actually, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: He has given his

suggestion --

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Right, but then
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: But --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: -- he's
transmitted to Mr. Houghton that you're going to
commission a legal opinion.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I was not aware of
that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: I appreciate
that, but he was -- he was in the loop, as it were, as

to whether or not you were going to get an opinion.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: And I was not
aware of that.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Do I take it --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I'm reading it

from the Foundation Documents, yeah.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay, but --
but the inference that I draw, and the Commissioner
may draw, is that you had told him you were going to
get a legal opinion.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It was something

that I would be considering, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And you told
him that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. Now --
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: And I didn't
provide any legal opinions to him. I want to be
clear.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. So in

other words, when the Town got the opinion, you didn't

give it to Mr. Bonwick.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I did not.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay, that's
fair. Now, let me just look at this one (1) quickly,
TOC45070.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So this is an

email between Mr. Bonwick and Mr. Houghton. Mr.

Houghton asks:
"How did you make out with
PowerStream?"
We'll come back to that part with --
and then the last sentence:
"Have you spoken to Sandra about the
extension of the Board terms?"
So I'm assuming that was the Board
terms of Collus Power, from inference, do you know?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would guess that
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MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would agree with
you.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And did you
have a discussion with Mr. Bonwick about extending the
Board terms of Collus Power, do you recall?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: No, you can't
recall, or no, you didn't have --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No, I did not have
the conversation.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. And then

can we turn up TOC45155?

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And scroll

down.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So this is the

whole chain going up. And I won't go through it all

but do I -- do I take i1t that we're unaware as at

277
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April of 2011 that Mr. Bonwick was dealing with

PowerStream?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And
we'll come back to this in some detail, but is it your
evidence that you didn't know until sometime in May
that he was dealing with PowerStream?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And when in

May, do you know?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Would have been
about mid May.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Mid May.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't recall an
exact date.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. Now, can

we pull up TOC527136.00017?

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: May be missing
a zero there, I'm not -- after the decimal point.
COURT OPERATOR: 527136.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: 527136.
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(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Try -- try four

Z€ros.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

COURT OPERATOR: It's not currently
appearing in the database.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. Well
I'll come back to it if I have to.

Now, let me switch very briefly to the
Amaizeingly Green issue that we -- risk of enraging
Mr. Chenoweth.

So if we turn up the Foundation

Document, paragraph 84.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So we touched
on this yesterday or the day before. So the problem
was that we had an employer in town that had roughly
how many employees, twenty-five (24), or something
like that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: My understanding,
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there were about eighty (80).

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Eighty (80),
okay. I apologize.

And -- and that's important, but the
problem was that it owed back taxes to the Town,
correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And then it
owed a lot on its hydro bill?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And the amount,
whether that's all-inclusive or not, was about a
million dollars, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I recall that,
yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And the Town

wants to do what it can for AGP, but at the same time

it -- it has a statutory obligation to collect taxes,
correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And to that

extent 1ts interests are different.
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: That AG —-- if

it's up to AGP, they would never pay their taxes, but
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you're the Town, you have to collect them, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So we heard
evidence from you about Mr. Bonwick advocating for the
Town, correct, advocating for the -- the company
rather, I apologize.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Okay, thank you.
Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And I want to
be clear about this, we now know that he was doing so
as a commercial relationship, that they were a client
of his, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I made that
assumption, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: But did you
make that assumption at the time?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't recall
when I made that assumption.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right, because
I guess looking at this, if he was still the MP, that
would make some sense that he'd be advocating for
them, but if he's a private citizen, one would assume
he's not doing this just to be altruistic, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Mr. Bonwick is a

former MP and perhaps would have relationships and
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ties to the government.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: I appreciate
that, but to the extent that he is advocating for the
company in relation to getting a grant and in relation
to its tax and hydro bill arrangements, you must have
thought that he was doing this for a fee of some kind.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I hadn't given it
that thought. My thoughts where to saving jobs.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: No. I —- I got
that message from your testimony the other day.

Now, then we turn up TOC59201.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And scroll to
the bottom. So this is your email to Mr. Houghton.
"I've been asked again about AGP and
outstanding debt to the Town. I
want a full report so this can be
brought to Council."
That's your message, correct?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: And is this to
Mr. Houghton in his capacity as the Executive Director

of Public Works?
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: It would have been
as —-- as Collus and --

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Okay.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: -- and --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Sorry, go
ahead.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: And it would be

overall Public Works and Engineering.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And was
tax collecting under his area of responsibility?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: No, it was not.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right.
But, I mean, he had his finger on the AGP pulse, as it
were.
MS. SANDRA COOPER: That was my
understanding, yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. So then
if we scroll up, Mr. Houghton says to Mr. Bonwick:
"T hope she really doesn't mean
this."
But then the line I wanted to ask you
about is:
"I have been lenient because of your
involvement. This could be very

embarrassing."
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So start with this, you didn't know
about this email?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: I had -- was not
copied nor did I know about this email.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right. But

this email seems to suggest, in the words of Mr.
Houghton, that AGP is getting a break because Mr.
Bonwick is involved, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That's what I'm
reading into the email.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And
this is the definition of preferential treatment,
isn't it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I would
suggest that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And 1if Mr.
Houghton was in fact giving AGP preferential treatment
because of Mr. Bonwick's involvement, that was wrong,
correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: For me, myself, it

would be wrong to give preferential treatment, however

MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: Well, if it's
wrong for you, it's wrong for Mr. Houghton, isn't it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I can't speak for
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Mr. Houghton.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Well, I'm not
asking you to but you -- you were the mayor..

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And this was
going on on your watch. If Mr. Houghton was doing

this on behalf of Town, it was wrong, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Were to be
lenient, vyes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So —-- so
turning to the Collus PowerStream transaction and its
beginning, so the beginnings of the idea of a sale or
a partial sale, you were the mayor --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: --— the head of
Council, you're then on the Board of Collus.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm. Many
others, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And can I ask
you, and I should know the answer to this, but because
you are the mayor, were you automatically a member of
the Board of Collus Power?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that's
correct.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And so did you
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take office as a member of the Board when you were
sworn in as mayor effectively?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And you were
sworn in in -- is it in January of 201172

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It would be in
December.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: In December of
20107

MS. SANDRA COOPER: 2010.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So we know, and
we'll pull it up eventually, that in December of 2010
Mr. Houghton had a discussion with Mr. Bentz over
breakfast at Sunset Grill, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That's what I read

in the Foundation Documents, correct.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And you
accept that that's accurate?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I have nothing to
dispute that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: That's fair.
And do I take it that at the time he's having
breakfast in December of 2010, you didn't know about
that discussion that he'd had with Mr. Bentz?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No, I did not.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: All right. And

can we pull up the Foundation Document, paragraph 1142

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So January 6th,
2011, Mr. Houghton gave an orientation presentation to
Town Council on behalf of Collus, and this is because
there's a new Council, I take it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. All
departments did this.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And we can —--
if we scroll down, the Foundation Document says:

"Presentation slides did not mention
the contemplation of any mergers,
acquisitions, or divestments."

And that's true, I take it. We can
pull up the presentation if you want, but that is
correct.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Okay.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And as at date,
January the 6th of 2011, I take it you had no idea
that a sale of Collus Power was being contemplated.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That 1is correct.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And if we pull
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up this document very gquickly, ALE50195.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: These are the
notes that were taken at this -- at this meeting and
we'll -- we'll hear from Mr. Bentz about them, but
this is the -- the discussion that he had, and all of
this is something that you learned about sometime
later.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And is it fair
to say that the initial discussion where Mr. Houghton
approached Mr. Bentz is -- is something that you only
learned about when you saw the Foundation Document?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: At that point in
time, I understood that Mr. Houghton was meeting with
various -- just trying to get an idea if there was an
interest.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right, but
he has that meeting with Mr. Bentz in early December
of 2010. I guess the -- the question I wanted to ask
you is, that breakfast meeting that he had in December
where he went to Mr. Bentz and they had this

discussion, that's something that you only learned
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about much later.
MS. SANDRA COOPER: At a later time,
yes.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So then can we
scroll down a bit here? So he -- Mr. Bentz records:
"Received email, E. Houghton, known
him for over 15 years, asked to
speak on a confidential matter.
Talked about situation with Collus."
And carries on. Then he says:
"Also in his role as Executive
Director of the Town of Collingwood,
basically runs municipal deputy
(sic) there. Has a lot of clout."
I'm assuming that's "department." Was
there such a position as Executive Director of the
Town of Collingwood?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Executive Director

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Of Public
Works, is 1it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Public Works,
which is under the Town of Collingwood.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And the

-— Mr. Houghton is recorded as having said, I take it,

39
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And I take it Mr. Houghton in the Town
of Collingwood did have a lot of clout.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: He was a long-time
employee for the Town of Collingwood.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And he had a
lot of clout?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: He would certainly
provide advice. Did he have a lot of clout? I -- I'm
not sure. I know it was amicable with other
department heads.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Well, yeah, but
that's not what I'm asking. I mean, he was the most
influential department head. Can we put it that way?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right. And

then as we go down, he says:
"Had breakfast with him shortly
thereafter. Talked about process
and value range. Said back of
envelope, 15 to $20 million on
enterprise value less debt."
MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: So we don't
know who said that to whom but that discussion was

had, correct?

40
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: From what I'm
reading, yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And:
"RF -- RFP with multiple bidders."
It appears that this is -- is something

that was discussed in December of 2010.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I believe so.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. Now,
the question that I have I guess is a philosophical
one, before Mr. Houghton heads off and begins
breakfasting with people in the industry about selling
the company, shouldn't Council at a very high level
have a discussion about whether or not they want to
sell this asset?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: My understanding,

it was fact gathering, and so I think from that point

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: He jumped
pretty quickly to the facts, what the enterprise is

worth, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: What he believes,
yes.

MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: Right.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And this is
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something that I'll probably come back to, but this is

the most valuable asset that Coll -- that Collingwood
had, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So, fair
enough, that the -- the electricity market is changing
and the government may want fewer LDCs, but before
Collingwood decides to sell the asset, shouldn't it
have that yes or no discussion, and the discussion
would be at Town Council.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm, yes, I

understand that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Do you accept
that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Well, perhaps,
yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Well, can I --

can I get you to lean over to yes there or --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. So then
I guess the next gquestion I have is that Mr. Houghton
at this time is famously wearing two (2) hats. He's
running Collus Power and he is an Executive Director
at the Town, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That's correct.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So we know that

Town Council didn't give him the authority to have
this exploratory discussion with Mr. Bentz, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Correct.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And I haven't
seen a Board minute from Collus Power that suggests
that he had the authority from Collus Power, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Correct, I haven't
seen Board minutes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right.

And so the question that I have is who
gave him the authority to have this discussion?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: He had -- my
understanding was Mr. Houghton had a close working
relationship with the chair of Collus Power, or
Collus, and that there would have been that
relationship and communication with the chair of the
Board.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Well, T
understand that at a general level, that very
fortunate to have somebody as experienced in business
as Mr. Muncaster.

But do you think that Mr. Muncaster
said to Mr. Houghton why don't we just see if we can

sell this company and he didn't consult with anybody?
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: I understood that

the exercise was to look at an in -- to see if there

was an interest, an appetite.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Right, but I

want to be clear. Do you have any knowledge that Mr.

Muncaster authorized Mr. Houghton to have this

discussion?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't know that.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: All right.

Let's pull up ALE 45. This is Mr.

Bonwick's e-mail to to Mr. Bentz, January 10th, 2011,

correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And this 1is

something that you didn't see at the time, of course?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That 1s correct.

I did not see it.

this e-mail,

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And in
if we scroll down, Mr. Bonwick says:
"Over the course of the last few
years, more specifically over the
last few weeks, I have followed with
interest the situation presently
being experienced by Collingwood

Council. More specifically, their

44
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financial situation and the need for
a significant capital injection.”

Then he goes on to talk about his own
experience in elected office and the prospect of
selling Collingwood's utility services.

So if you come to the end of the
paragraph, he talks about timing. Municipal Council
was 1in the process of beginning their budget
considerations. As a result, timing is potentially a
critical factor.

And they take it he was right that
budget deliberations would begin in January.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Usually in the
spring, that's been the practice.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right.

And he is right in saying that if
Collus was -- sorry, if the Town was going to sell all
or part of Collus, this would be relevant to budget
considerations, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, it -- it
would be.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And Mr. Bonwick
raises the prospect of PowerStream having a potential
interest. Do you see that at the end of the long

paragraph?
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: I see that on the

e-mail.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And so he - he
seems to be in the loop with the idea that PowerStream
and Collus might come to some arrangement, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It would seem from
reading the e-mails from the Foundation document.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And at
this point again, just to underline it, Town Council

has got no idea that this is in contemplation?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Not specifically.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Not at all, in
fact?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Not at all.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And he didn't

get any of this information from you, because as at
January 10th you didn't know anything about any
contact between Collus Power and PowerStream, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: He did not receive
any of this information from me.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Now, you said
something yesterday in relation to the engagement
letter that Mr. Bonwick entered with PowerStream, and
about the comfort lever -- letter, if I can call it

that, that you gave PowerStream?
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And you said

that it was important to tell Mr. Bentz that you and

Mr. Bonwick were related. Do you remember that?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Because you

don't share the same surname and it was important to
tell him that, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That is correct.
That was part of it.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Okay. So if we
look at the Foundation document, paragraph 117. So
just looking at this, we scroll up just to get the
context a little Dbit.

So we're going down. Mr. Bentz in his
note says a couple of weeks later, "Received the e-
mail from Paul Bonwick. Also indicated he was the
brother of the mayor, Sandra Cooper."

You see that, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I see that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So in his
initial approach to PowerStream, Mr. Bonwick made it
clear that he was related to you?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: That he was
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your brother?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Looking at -- yes,
the e-mail, that is the indication.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Now, if we look
at TOC 37577, this -- so this, following on the
conversation, I guess, between Mr. -- or the e-mail
between Mr. Bentz and Mr. Bonwick, Mr. Bonwick was
sending on the Compenso PowerStream proposal to Mr.
Houghton?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That is what I
read from the e-mail that I was not copied on.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: No, T
appreciate that. But I guess a couple of questions
about that.

If we're headed into an RFP in which
PowerStream is going to be a proponent, this is
probably something that Mr. Houghton should not be
doing, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I wouldn't think
SO.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. And then
if we look at TOC38100 --

THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: Just
before you go on, you said "I wouldn't think so".

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Oh, I'm sorry.
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THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: Should

I —-- should I take from that that you're -- you agree
he ought not to be doing that, or should I take
something else from it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No, Your Honour.
I would say that he should not have done that.

THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: Thank

you.

CONTINUED BY MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL:

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Thank you,
Commissioner.

So this is the e-mail that Mr. Houghton
drafts and this is a template for your remarks to
Council about the prospect of selling Collus, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And as I
understood your evidence, you asked Mr. Houghton to
draft this e-mail for you, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: That was your
evidence, but you've thought about it over a couple of
nights. Is that, in fact, correct? 1It's a long time
ago, but I just wanted to be clear about this.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It is, it's
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January 2011.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So sitting here
today, 1s that still your evidence, that you asked him

to draft this?

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: I thought
she just said it is. That's her evidence.
THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: I —-

I'll allow the question.

CONTINUED BY MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL:

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Just out of
fairness, sitting here today, is that still your
evidence, that you asked Mr. Houghton to draft this?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: To draft something
up for me, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right.

But one (1) of the things that's
curious about is that you ask him to draft your
remarks to Council, but he sends the draft to your
brother.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I was not copied
on that.

MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: No, I know, but
do you know why that is?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No. I -—-— I was
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not privy to it.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And then if we
scroll to the bottom of this -- is that the bottom?

So Mr. Houghton says to Mr. Bonwick,
"We have a Board meeting tomorrow morning."

I'm assuming that's the Board of Collus
Power?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would assume
that as well.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: "I was
wondering if we should chat.”

You have no idea why there was that
suggestion from Mr. Houghton?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And then if we

look at paragraph 140 of the Foundation document.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So we can pull
up the actual e-mail. Mr. Houghton's text is above,
and then your draft is at paragraph 140.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: A couple of

questions about this. If we go up to paragraph 139,
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Houghton in his draft had said:
"This request and your review must
be kept in strictest confidence."
he said that.

SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And that's also
believe, correct?

SANDRA COOPER: M-hm.

WILLIAM MCDOWELL: You have to say
record.

SANDRA COOPER: Oh, sorry. Yes.
WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And in his

"I must also say that this is not a
done deal that Collus will be sold
if after the review we are asked
about selling Collus, we can provide
the details that suggest the

contrary, 1f that is the right

thing."
SANDRA COOPER: That's what I
WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right.

But if we scroll down to your version,
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that language isn't in there? Keep going.

You say my specific request is that
Chair Muncaster direct Mr. Houghton to undertake
evaluation of Collus, examining all potential
opportunities that might benefit -- Coll --
Collingwood residents and that a report containing
recommendations be presented to Council by May 30th,
2011.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. So were
you more firm than Mr. Houghton in the idea that there
had to be a transaction of some kind involving Collus?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Do you recall
why you took that working out? The wording about it
not being a done deal?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't recall
then, but as reading it today, report containing
recommendation. So it would be Council's
consideration, in any event.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right.

So in other words, the recommendation
might be don't sell the company?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It could have

been.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: All right.

Thank you for clearing that up.

Commissioner, I'm in your hands, but if
you want to break now or do you want to go on a little
bit more?

THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: We --
we'll go on a little bit longer. I'm trying to get

through this.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Sure, that's
fine.

THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: I
didn't mean to imply, Ms. Cooper, -- I meant I was

trying to get to the conclusion of your evidence.
MS. SANDRA COOPER: No offence taken,

Your Honour.

CONTINUED BY MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL:

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: You're a better
person than T.

So in the e-mail you requested that Mr.
Muncaster tell Mr. Houghton to get a valuation of
Collus, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So if you are a

potential buyer of Collus, that would be wvaluable
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commercial information to have, that the Town was
serious about selling the company, and in fact it was
going to get a valuation, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. And this

was a confidential and sensitive matter --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: -—- for a whole
bunch of reasons. You've got employees who maybe

displaced, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Affect employees.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Customer service.
A lot of --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Customer

service, people don't like selling their hydro
utilities, as we saw with the whole Hydro One system
right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And if we pull
up ALE 71. So this is the e-mail Mr. Bonwick to Mr.
Bentz. And Mr. Bonwick in the second paragraph says,
"In the interest of time", bearing in mind this is a
day or two (2) after your e-mail, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL:

"In the interest of time, I had to
initiate the beginning of the
process we discussed. Unfortunately
the next committee meeting was not
scheduled for another two (2)
months, which would have caused some
timing challenge -- challenges if
process was not initiated this
week."

So taking it that far Mr. Bonwick
speaks of initiating a process. Do you know what he's
talking about?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Did he have any
role in the initiation of discussions about selling
Collus Power, as far as you knew?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Not that I'm aware
of.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And
then in the next paragraph he says:

"As a result, the Chairperson and
Executive Director have now received
direction to commence evaluation of

the utility."
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: I see that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And in fact,
that much was true. They had received that direction
from you?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So is taking it

that far the thing that we agreed was confidential,
somehow been leaked to Mr. Bonwick, correct?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would consider

it confidential, vyes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And it was
leaked?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It -- yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And to

cover this off, did you leak it to him?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay.

And then carrying on, a bit of a
backgrounder is now being prepared to present to the
audit committee in order to secure approval on the
sole-source option as it relates to the valuation.

So that the audit committee 1is the
audit committee of Collus Power?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
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MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And that was
true, I take it, the audit committee was looking at
that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would take it at
that, from what I'm reading.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: You didn't know
that at the time?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't recall.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So just looking
at that, Mr. Bonwick seems to know an awful lot about
what's going on at Collus Power and its respective
sale, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, from what I'm

reading.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And he
shouldn't have known any of that, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Yes, he

should've known, or yes, you're agreeing with me?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I'm agreeing with
you.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Good.

All right, now I'm going to move to a
different area, Commissioner. This might be an

appropriate time.
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THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: We'll

take ten (10) minutes. Thank you.

—-——- Upon recessing at 11:07 a.m.

—-——- Upon resuming at 11:18 a.m.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Thank vyou,

Commissioner.

CONTINUED BY MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL:
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So if we turn
up paragraph 138 of the Foundation Document. So this

is at the end of January. This is at the time that

you have written the email or about to write the email

directing that evaluation be undertaken of Collus
Power?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And Mr.
Houghton writes to Mr. Bonwick:
"It is so important that Rick does
not know what I am doing."
And in that context, Rick I assume is
the deputy mayor?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would assume

that well.

59

DIGI-TRAN INC. 403-276-7611
Serving Clients Across Canada




Transcript Date April 25, 2019

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

60
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And Mr. Bonwick
responded:
"No kidding, that applies to
absolutely everyone."
Right?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And that in the
context again, I -- I assume means all the other

members of Council?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would assume.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Right.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I -- T would agree
with you.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And the matter

wasn't raised with Council until June 27th, 2011;
that's my recollection of the evidence?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: There was an in
camera meeting June 27th, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And that's the
first that Council knows about it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And if
we look at the Foundation Document 146, Muncaster says
there:

"Because Mayor Cooper has been
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involved in the previous
consideration of having this
valuation done that should not be a
difficulty and I would suspect that
we will be relying on her judgment
about the involvement of the
shareholder."

You see that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I read that, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: The
shareholder's the Town?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Correct.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And so the
whole question from the perspective of the chairman of
Collus Power of who was going to -- or when Council
was going to be told, that was delegated to you,
correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: From reading here,
yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: But I --1I

assume that meets with your recollection too?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Then if we
scroll up to 142. So this is Mr. Bonwick emailing you

talking about budget and saying:
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"Same goes for Collus, it also sends
a message through early in your term
that your Council will provide
direction."
This is on the heels of you having
directed that an evaluation be undertaken?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And then he
says:
"When I spoke to you a few weeks ago
about this type of direction, Ed
thought his board would be
supportive of such a request."
And as I heard your evidence, you
didn't recall speaking with Mr. Bonwick about

direction in relation to Collus Power?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't recall
that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: But again, this
shows that at -- at this point in time Mr. Bonwick

seems to know an awful lot about what's going on with

Collus Power?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Now let's turn
to paragraph 176 of the Foundation Document. So we've
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moved ahead to May of 2011. So Messrs. Muncaster,
Houghton and Fryer present the Collus annual report
and business plan to Town Council. You see that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, 1 do.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And then
turning to 177. Mr. Houghton says:

"We look at Council and our citizens
as our partner."

But it really wasn't -- weren't the
citizens of Collingwood, in effect, the shareholders
of Collus?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Technically,
the shareholder is the Town, but really, that means
the citizens own -- own the shares?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And again going

to 178. Mr. Houghton offers a teaser that:
"There's something that we've been
doing quite a bit lately. I think
very soon you're going to be hearing
something that we're very much
involved with."
And, obviously, he's referring to the

idea of selling all or part of Collus?
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And again, Town
Council, apart from that tantalizing bit from Mr.
Houghton, knows nothing about this?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: You're agreeing
with me?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I am.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Now, looking at
paragraph 187 of the Foundation Document. So this is

the draft of the letter, which ultimately you send
back to Mr. Bentz. And if we can pull up ALE136.

This 1s the draft.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Sorry?

MR. GEORGE MARRON: There should be a
date on this letter and I -- I say that because I had

reference to it and I believe I introduced it as
Exhibit 30 in the proceedings.

THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: My
recollection is there was no date on it. I've never

seen it with a date on it.

CONTINUED BY MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL:

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Let's look at
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one (1) -- paragraph. Just while we're here, let's

look at this. So, Mr. Bonwick --

MR. GEORGE MARRON: Excuse me, I may
be in error. This -- this is a draft of the letter.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right.

MR. GEORGE MARRON: It's not the

letter that the mayor --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: It's not —--
it's not the letter.

MR. GEORGE MARRON: I'm sorry, I'm in

error. I'm sorry.

CONTINUED BY MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL:

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So there you
are to acknowledge to -- to Mr. Bentz that Mr. Hought
-— you say Mr. Bonwick's responsibilities could

potentially incorporate advice relating to the Town of

Collingwood.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that is
correct.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right and
at the time that you were sending this -- you are to

send this letter, you know that there is a transaction
contemplated involving Collus Power?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And you know

that PowerStream is going to be one (1) of the
bidders, correct? Or you expected they'll be one (1)
of the bidders.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would expect
they would be.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And then
turning up paragraph 189 of the Foundation Document.
So Mr. Bonwick says to Mr. Bentz:

"I wrote it with the thought of

public disclosure, if ever

required."
Right?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that is
right.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And T

appreciate that you weren't copied on this email but
that was your understanding that this letter was to
provide -- provide cover for PowerStream if this
relationship ever became public, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And then
turning up paragraph 197. This is the text of your
letter.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that's
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correct.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Which is
substantially in the form of the draft that Mr.

Bonwick had given you?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Then scrolling
down -- okay, keep going. Stop there.

"I would emphasize [you say in your
letter] that should you choose to
engage Compenso in some manner of
service, 1t should be based entirely
on the merits of the proposal and
completely unrelated to his

relationship with me and that of my

office.”
Right?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: My

understanding of your evidence is that you made no
inquiries of Mr. Bonwick about the type of advice he
was going to be getting to PowerStream.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I was of a -- 1
felt it was public relations and communications.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Those were the

-- that -- that's -- that was what the advice and what
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: That's what I
understand, yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: But you made no

inquiries?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That is correct.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And as I
understood your evidence the reason for that was that
you have a reticence about asking your siblings about
how they earn their income, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: But your other
siblings aren't involved in business that intersects
with the Town of Collingwood, are they?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I wouldn't

necessarily know.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right, not
having made inquiries you wouldn't -- you wouldn't
know.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't see them
weekly.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Did you -- let
me ask you this. When you wrote your letter, did you

give any independent thought as to the content of your

letter or did you just look at his and say, that looks

68
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fine, I'll sign off on that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I looked at his
letter and thought it was fine to -- to sign at the
time.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: As we've seen,
we know that Mr. Bonwick was getting confidential
information about PowerStream on the runup to you
sending this letter.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, we've seen
that.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Can we pull up
ALE216.

(BRRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And then let's
pull up 218.

(BRRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So if we scroll
through, this is PowerStream's strategic retreat. I'm

looking for the reference to Mr. Bonwick.

(BRIEF PAUSE)
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So there,

PowerStream is talking about -- is it slide 67

They're understanding the Town of Collingwood is
considering selling the Utility. They have KPMG in --
involved.

Do you see that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that's
correct. They do.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Then at the
same time, the slide says, PowerStream has been
approached by the Honourable Paul Bonwick. They talk
about his expertise, and they say that he has close
relationships within the community that may assist
PowerStream in achieving its M&A objectives, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So then looking
at -- at that, just by itself, that seems to suggest
that what PowerStream thinks it's buying is Mr.
Bonwick's expertise, but also his relationships,
right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That's what --

yes, 1 agree with you.

MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: And let's go to
the foundation document, paragraph 2 -- 202.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Just assist
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that PowerStream retreat was.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: It's on the

first slide.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: There you go,
June 16.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
Appreciate it. Thank you.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Then if we go

to Foundation Document paragraph 202.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So this is a
review of the retainer letter signed on June the 7th
by PowerStream. Do you see there that Mr. Bonwick
would, among other things, prepare detailed briefings
identifying key decision makers related to a
particular opportunity? Do you see that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I do.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So Mr. Bonwick

was to figure out who were the real decision makers in

71
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relation to the -- the PowerStream opportunity?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: For the -- the

Collus opportunity? And then if we scroll down...

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Sorry, go up a

little bit, there.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL:
"Compenso is in constant contact
with the municipal government
leaders, and as such, 1s able to
monitor and report any changes or
opportunities that may arise. Our
intelligence gathering will help
prepare you to respond to any
potential critical challenges being
brought forward."

So you see that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I do see

that.
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MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So when you put
all of that together, Mr. Bonwick is being paid
because of his access to people like you? Do you see
that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, 1 do.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: He's being paid
for his access to you personally?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: To government
leaders, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Yeah, but --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That would include
me.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: That would
include you. And he is to gather intelligence, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That's -- yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And
"intelligence" is one (1) of those funny words,
because it means information gathered by all kinds of
means, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And the most
valuable intelligence is going to be information that
is confidential to the vendor, the Town, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would agree with

that.
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(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So just to put
it all together, you now accept, sitting here today,
that when Mr. Bonwick approached PowerStream, he was,
in part, selling his ability to gain access to you and
your office?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Now, if we keep
scrolling down, under disclosure, if you take a second

to look at that.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL:
"Bonwick represents and warrants
that he has disclosed the scope of
his services and his retainer by
PowerStream to the mayor and clerk
of the Town of Collingwood."

Do you see that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I do see

that.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: As I understand

your evidence, you understood that he was going to be
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acting for PowerStream, but only in public relations

activities?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Public relations,
communications. That was what I understood.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Can we agree,

then, that Mr. Bonwick did not disclose the scope of
his -- these activities as this required him to do-?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I had not seen
financials or that detailed scope.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right, but
if he was supposed to disclose the scope of his
activities, he didn't do that, did he?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Correct. That is

right.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Now, 1f we turn

to a different topic, CPS4397.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So this is the

review of options?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that's
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correct.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And we can go
through this, but we agreed that the option of a 50
percent share sale was not something that KPMG had
recommended as an option?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: They did not
recommend 50 percent. That is correct.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And there was a
lot of evidence about this yesterday, but is it fair
to say that sitting here today, you don't know where
the 50 percent option came from?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: To be honest, I
don't recall.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And you
made reference to a KPMG -- a separate KPMG
presentation about the 50 percent?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And we have

looked, and we can't find any evidence that there was

one?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Okay.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Do you accept
that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I do accept
that. There's been a lot of documents.
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(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And if we turn

up TOC516351.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: These are the
in camera minutes --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: -—- for the

meeting of June 27th, 2011. So if we scroll

through...
(BRIEF PAUSE)
MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: They're fairly
brief. There's no resolution recorded as to the

direction Council wanted the process to go in?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: That's correct.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And again,
we'll go back to this. This is the most wvaluable
asset the Town has. This is pretty important,
correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: And can we now
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agree that there should have been some indication as
to the consensus reached by Council in camera?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I would agree
with that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Now the
Strategic Task Team was formed after the June 27th
meeting?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And on August
the 3rd, you had the first meeting?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that's
correct.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And Mr.
Houghton and Mr. Muncaster reported at that meeting
that they had attended initial meetings with
potentially interested bidders, and they had used a
consistent introduction in each meeting?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And your
evidence yesterday was that this was important because
it made for a level playing field, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That 1is correct.

MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: The idea is
that in the RFP, you want to treat all bidders the

same, correct?
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: Absolutely.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: The reason for
that is that you want real competition, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And if you have
real competition among the bidders, that tends to
drive the price up, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And so the
reason that you want to treat all bidders the same
isn't out of a sense of altruism or fairness. It's to

get the most value for the shareholder, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It would be
fairness and to get the best wvalue.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. So the
dates of these meetings -- i1if we pull up the

foundation document at paragraph 240.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So those are
the dates of the -- of the meetings among Mr.
Muncaster, Mr. Houghton, and the prospective bidders.
Do you see that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I do see
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that.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: But we now know

that by July the 7th, Mr. Houghton has had all kinds

of contact with our PowerStream. You know that,
right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Going back to

December of 20107

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: He's had
different contacts with Mr. Bentz. He's gone golfing

with Mr. Bentz, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Wouldn't it
have been important for the Strategic Task Team to
know that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I think that
they should have known that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Because if
you're starting the RFP process where there has been
more access given to one (1) bidder than another,
that's important, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Absolutely, it is
important.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And you may
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have to adjust the process, taking that into account?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And then
layered onto that, there's the whole business of the
solar vent project?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: You have to say
"yes" or "no."

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Sorry, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right. And

turn up paragraph 220 of the foundation document.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So this is
something that also has to be factored into the design
of the RFP, I take 1it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right. Now
you will know, I think, from reading the foundation
document, that there are some documents from which it
appears that Mr. Houghton had a financial interest in
the solar vent company, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: There was some

reference in the foundation documents, yes.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: All right. If

that was true, that is something that -- that Collus
Power should have known, I take it?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I think so.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Because Collus
Power was doing business with the solar vent company,

correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And if Mr.
Houghton is the CEO of Powers -- Collus PowerStream,

and he is doing side business with the Company, that's

important to know, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It is important
information.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And if he is
doing business with PowerStream -- or sorry, with

Collus Power, and he is not disclosing his interest,
then that is very problematic from the point of view
of the CEO of the Company, isn't it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That information
should have been provided, vyes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right, but it
goes beyond that. You talked about your fiduciary
duties to Collus PowerStream, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm, yes.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Well, Mr.

Houghton running the Company also has fiduciary
duties?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, he does.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And one (1) of
them, I would say, is that he can't, in a covert way,
do business with the Company?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I would agree
with that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And as a
director with your own fiduciary duties, if you had
known that, that would have caused you great concern?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would have asked
some questions.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right, and you
would have disapproved of it, I take it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. It wouldn't
be appropriate.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Well, that's
fair. So just to go back to the contact, the golf
games, and the meetings, and so on, between Mr.
Houghton and Mr. Bentz, running up to August 3rd,
2011, did you know of the extent of the contact
between Mr. Houghton and the people at PowerStream?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And then Mr.

Bonwick, to the extent that Mr. Bonwick was providing
information to PowerStream concerning Collus and the

Town, going way back to February -- sorry, to January
of 2011, were you aware that Mr. Bonwick was providing

that information?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No, I was not
aware of that.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Now let's look
at CPS4397.
(BRIEF PAUSE)
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Go to slide 24.
(BRIEF PAUSE)
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So these are
the next steps that are noted. Do you see that?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I do.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Thank you. Can

we Jjust look at twenty-five (25) for a second?
"Confidentiality is critical to
ensure that the greatest value is

fully recognized."
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Do you see that?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I do see
that.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Let's go to the

Foundation Document, paragraph 239.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So this
recounts that you have the -- you have the meeting on
August 3rd, 2011, of the Strategic Task Team. Then if

we go to CPS2342.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: These are the
minutes? You don't have to go through them to any
great extent, but these track what was discussed at
that initial meeting, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that is
correct.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. And then
if we turn up paragraph 269 of the Foundation

Document.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So Mr. Bonwick
sends Ed Houghton a memo, and the memo is addressed to
Mr. Bentz, Mr. Glicksman, a few others at PowerStream.
Do you see that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I do see
that.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And he has
summarized the presentations of the bidders in the

process?

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I'm seeing
competitive analysis.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. And then
scroll down. So there, there are different points
made about Hydro One, and about Veridian, and it
carries on, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, it does.

They are listed there.

MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: Okay. SO we

can agree that the information provided by the bidders

is highly confidential?

86
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, it 1is

confidential information.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: It's
information that Mr. Bonwick should not have had?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would agree.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: But he has
written this memo ostensibly to pass this information
on to one (1) of the bidders, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That's what I'm
reading, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So let's look

at the TOC59013.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So there, he is
sending on presentations which had been made to that
point, and the presentations were to PowerStream?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I agree with
that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And it's the
same point, this is information that is highly
confidential?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I believe it to be

highly confidential.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And if we turn
up ALE412.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So here Mr.
Bonwick is giving PowerStream detailed feedback about
how PowerStream's proposal went down, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: How -- whether
the extent to which it was liked or disliked by
members of the strategic task team?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Well received.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. And then

in the middle paragraph there he says:
"There is a great deal of focus on
the committee's desire to create a
partnership that provides
Collingwood with 50 percent of
ownership of the LDC."

Then he says:

"This issues appears to be more
political than practical in terms of
control or value. They believe that

palatability is much greater from a
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Council perspective if they are able
to announce this type of scenario
rather than the perceived loss of
control in a less than 50 percent
scenario."
You see that?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I do see
that.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: I must say,
this is really, you know, the only explanation of the

50 percent idea that I've really seen in the

documents.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that it was a
political.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And when I read
that, it -- from a political standpoint it -- it makes
sense, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. A -- a true
partner.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And

that was an accurate reflection of what members of the
strategic task team were thinking.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And what, for

that matter, what members of Council were thinking.
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: A partnership,
yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: But then he
carries on and he has a list of things on which -- on
which Collus was prepared to acquiesce, and he lists
them there. You see that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So again this
is highly confidential information.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It's sensitive
information.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: It's sensitive
information and it has enormous commercial value, 1f -
- if PowerStream, the bidder, is being told here are
things they're going to collapse on.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: It's like being

told here are the cards that your opponent is holding,

right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. I'll get it
right yet.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: That's all
right.
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question, but did this information come from you?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No, it did not
come from me.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Let's go to
ALES5133.003.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So this is an
update -- we don't need to go through all of the
slides, but there was an update given by Mr. Houghton
on that date.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And if we go to
TOC512163 -- the date of that for the record was

October 3rd, 2011.

Sorry, TOC512163.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: So these are
the in camera minutes.
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, by October

3rd, 2011.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Okay. And we

looked at in the evidence yesterday the -- the same
day Mr. Bonwick advised PowerStream that Collus would
send out RFP documents the following day. Do you
recall that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So looking at -
- so we're going to move ahead to November 10th, 2011,

TOC66378.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So the
attachment that Mr. Houghton is sending Mr. Bonwick is
Communication Strategy.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that's what
it says.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And then let's

look at CPS2643.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So this was the

slide deck that was used by Collus describing how it

was going to conduct its public information session.
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You recall that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I remember
the public information session.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And if Collus -
- sorry, if PowerStream got its hands on this, it
would be quite helpful to them to know the way in
which the project was going to be pitched to the
public, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It was a -- a
public information presentation.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right, but if
you know how it is that PowerStream is going -- sorry
that Collus is going to explain to the public why it's
doing what it's doing, if you're one (1) of the

bidders it's very helpful to know that.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Absolutely.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Let's look at
ALE -- sorry, let's go to paragraph 323 of the

Foundation Document.
MS. SANDRA COOPER: I should say
absolutely, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Yes, thank you.

(BRIEF PAUSE)
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MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So Mr. Fagen is
at PowerStream.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Okay.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And he says --

sends an email:
"A recap of the tentative public
disclosure and decision time lines
for the Collus Power, Collingwood
RFP that Ed Houghton and Paul
Bonwick outlined to me in a

conference call this morning."

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I read that.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And
then in the following paragraph, the -- the detailed

Steps are set out.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And can we
agree that i1f Mr. Bonwick and Mr. Houghton shared this
information with PowerStream, they should not have
done so?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I think it was --
I believe it to be critical information not to be
shared.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And

just to cover this off, I looked through the
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documents, I don't see any evidence that Mr. Houghton
was sharing this information with any other bidders in
the RFP.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: And I have not
seen that either in the Foundation Document.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Now, going over
to January 2012, they selected -- the Town has -- and
-- sorry, Collus has selected PowerStream as the
successful bidder, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And let's pull
up CPS9063 00001, four (4) zeroces and a one (1).

Scrolling down.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So this is the
one (1) where Mr. Bonwick is suggesting precisely how
you should engage the Town's lawyers, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And he says:

"This will provide an opportunity to
provide clear direction to Leo and
the CAO from both members of the

review team -- will also have to be
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mayor and deputy mayor."

You see that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, 1 do.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So this is a
critical point on the time line because the
transaction is about to close?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And then if you

scroll up, you confirmed:
"Hello Paul: I will email Leo to be
included likely around two-ish."

Correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Now, we talked
about things that are confidential, but the
relationship between the Town and its lawyers is a
relationship between a client and a lawyer.

Do you understand that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I understand.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So it is a
special level of confidentiality. Do you understand
that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: That

relationship is cloaked by solicitor and client
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Which under our
law 1s as near to absolute as possible --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: -— 1s protected

almost absolutely.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. So to
have somebody who is in the other camp, the other side
of the transaction, involved in how you instruct your
lawyers is a very bad thing. You accept that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, it -- yes, I
-- I agree with you.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And
when you were asked why that happened yesterday, you
said that you had no answer.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It was a
suggestion made and there was no information provided
to anyone. It was -- it was, in my estimation -- I
look at it now and I look at it then -- it was, you
know, you should get Leo involved in this.

MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: Right, but it
wasn't just get Leo involved; it was to push Leo in a

particular direction, right?
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: That was the

suggestion.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. But you
now understand that it was very wrong of you to be
taking advice from Paul Bonwick on that subject.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I should not have
done that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And the
reason for that is that your brother was being paid to
advance PowerStream's interests in this transaction,
right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And then in
that part of the evidence yesterday, you were asked
whether Mr. Bonwick had a role advising the Town in
relation to the transaction, and you -- you gave kind
of a funny answer. You said not with me.

And just to clear this up, was there

anybody else who had an informal relationship with Mr.

Bonwick in -- on the Town side?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Well, the deputy
mayor and he would have had -- and some other members

of Council as well.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Do you think

that the deputy mayor was sharing information with Mr.
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Bonwick?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't know.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: You don't know?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: No. I only know
what I didn't share.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right. And

we'll hear from Mr. Lloyd fairly shortly, but what
you're saying is that he and Mr. Bonwick had a close
relationship.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: They —-- they knew
one (1) another. I'm not sure how close that was and
Mr. Bonwick was on Council, I believe, when Councillor
Cunningham was the Fire Chief, so I would say that

there are...

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right, I
understand.
Now, turn up ALE1529.
(BRIEF PAUSE)
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So turning
down. Okay, stop there. Here Mr. Bonwick is

reporting in some detail on the meeting that took
place with the Town's lawyers, you, Mr. Lloyd, and so

on.
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: You see that?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: It says:

"The motion is completely in keeping
with our discussion."
You see that?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I see that.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So in other
words, the proposed bylaw that talked about the
agreement being subject to the approval of the mayor,
the clerk, and the Town's solicitor, now made no
mention of the solicitor, correct?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: It is -- and he

says it is subject to the satisfaction of the mayor

with no mention of their lawyer. Do you see that?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I see that.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So this is Mr.

Bonwick sharing the contents of the privileged
conversation that the Town had with its lawyer with
the other side of the transaction.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I read that now
and I was not aware of that. I did not share that

information.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Obviously that

should not have happened.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would totally
agree.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And then I'1l1
just ask you this, that information did not come from
you?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That is correct,
that did not come from me.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And ALE2075 --

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So Mr. Bonwick
is reporting Mr. Houghton about the documents and when
they're going to be signed and he has attached a -- a
number of documents. One of them is -- find it --
they're number 3 at the bottom, "memo to Leo Longo, re
documents to be signed."

And then at the very top, the heading
is "Documents to be signed by mayor and clerk an

explanatory memorandum."

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And that is
copied to Brian Bentz with the attachments. You see
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that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I do see
that.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So again, don't
have to go through them, but a number of these
documents are obviously privileged. The memorandum to
the mayor explaining what the transaction documents
are about, those are highly confidential, those are
privileged.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And Mr. Bonwick

should not have sent them obviously to Mr. Bentz, on
the other side of the transaction.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would think now.
I would agree with you.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: It's guite
inappropriate for him to do so.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: We'll have our
own questions about Mr. Bentz and what he did when he
got the privileged documents from the other side.

Now, just to move quickly to the -- the
qgquestion of the weighting of the non-financial and
financial criteria.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: I guess if the

point of this transaction was to get the maximum cash
value for the 50 percent of Collus, then why were the
criteria weighted 70 percent to the non-financial

details?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That had been
recommended in -- in the discussion that -- and again
I am not -—- I wasn't at that time familiar with RFPs

or preparing them or marking any of those tenders
coming in.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. But
when you say it was recommended, it wasn't recommended
by your consultants; it was recommended by Mr.
Muncaster and Mr. Houghton? Is that correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I can't recall
specifically but it was -- it was recommended -- not
recommended by KPMG. I don't recall that they had
recommended that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. So it
came -- and we agreed it came from one (1) of or both
of Mr. Muncaster, Mr. Houghton?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It could have,
yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Is that your

best --
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't --

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: --
recollection?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't recall who
-— I -- I would suggest that Mr. Houghton would have
put that together.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Should Council

have had some involvement in establishing those
criteria?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Council had
selected a task -- well, had selected a member of
Council for the task team to represent them and I was
there -- the mayor is there in various capacities of -
- as the mayor. So I would say that there was Council
representation there to give their view.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: But that was
the extent of Council's participation?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that is
correct.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Can we turn up

CPS26337

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So if we scroll

DIGI-TRAN INC. 403-276-7611
Serving Clients Across Canada




Transcript Date April 25, 2019

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

down -- so this is the question of how it is that the

leading proponent in each category gets the maximum

number of points, and Mr. Houghton explains there:

"If you feel Respondent A has the
best proposal regarding the support
for employees and their careers,
then they shall get the full ten
(10) points. The other three (3)
Respondents will then be judged and
provided points based on the best
proposal."

So it appears that this idea of the

leading proponent in each category getting all of the

points simply came from Mr. Muncaster and Mr.

Houghton.

Is that fair?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And then --
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Could we

just scroll up so I can see the date on this

correspondence?

Thank you.

CONTINUED BY MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL:

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And then 1if we
turn up -- before we do that, there is no advice from
KPMG on that particular part of the -- of the process,
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I assume.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Right, and
although Mr. Herhalt is copied.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So if we turn

up Ms. Wingrove's transcript of April 18th at page 60.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So here she's
talking about -- well actually go to -- go to the page
before. Go to page 59 so you get the -- the full

context.
Okay. So she says:
"My greatest concern I think came
later when as a group we were
discussing the evaluation and the
scoring of the responses at the
strategic task table."
I think you were in the room when she
was giving this evidence.
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I was.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. So then
if we turn to page 60, she says:
"And there was a lot of discussion

that was based on experience, and
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Mr. Houghton and potentially

Director McFadden had with some of
the responses -- respondents,"
sorry, "as to their business
practices, their fit, what it would
mean for them to be the successful
proponent in the process.”

And then if you go to the next
paragraph, she gives the example of Hydro One, that
Hydro One was large and bureaucratic. They would be
difficult to work with, that Collus would lose all its
identity, and so on.

So when you are scoring the different
bidders on the non-financial criteria --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: -- I take it
she's right that you're sitting around the table
having these kinds of discussions.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And to come
back to a point you had made, Mr. Muncaster had a lot

of experience in the industry, I take it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: And Mr. --
MS. SANDRA COOPER: And Mr. McFadden.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Mr. McFadden as
well. And so they have a lot of influence on the way
these scores are assigned, I take it?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: They had a -- a
knowledge that they were able to provide.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Right, and that

meant -- that brought with it some -- some great
influence on the other members of the team, I take it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Then scrolling
down, she says, and this is still in relation to Hydro
One:

"Certainly that was not a direction
that was, you know, being supported,
if you will, by Mr. Houghton and
others.

So there was a general dislike of Hydro
One as a -- as a prospective partner, I take 1it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That 1is correct.
They were not successful.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And then if you
turn, I think it's to page 62, so Ms. Wingrove says:

"But to sit at the table and have
the discussion about the merits of

one (1) bid over another before
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everything is finalized it's not a
practice that it's too easy to be
influenced by the other people
around the table for me."
And I just would like your reaction to
that.
MS. SANDRA COOPER: I do not recall
Ms. Wingrove speaking to this at the time, and I was
not familiar with RFP process and so I'm not sure --

and criteria, so I'm not sure --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So —-

MS. SANDRA COOPER: -— how it falls
out. I was not --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. SO as
you —-- so what it comes to is that you don't feel you

can really comment on that from her?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No. I -1
thought it was good information that was being
provided.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. Can we

turn up KPM1901°?

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So just
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scrolling down, Mr. Rockx at KPMG writing. This is --
KPMG is in the process of doing adjustments to the
different bids to determine the real value.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And he says in

the bottom paragraph:
"I have a phone call with Hydro One
this afternoon to confirm the
details of their offer, which
probably still is $2 million higher
than that of PowerStream."

You see that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I do.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And there are
further adjustments made and I think the -- the gap in

the end is about a million dollars, that Hydro One is

about a million dollars more than PowerStream?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that is
correct.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So let's turn
to -- to paragraph 421 of the Foundation Document.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So this 1is
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scrolling down. And Mr. Rockx asks Mr. Houghton:
"Can I provide Hydro One with the
one-page summary of their offer to
see 1f they agree with the assumed
purchase price adjustment?"
So really that was to find out whether

or not Collus understood just what Hydro One was

offering. Do you agree?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And Mr.

Houghton says:
"My first reaction is to leave that

as 1s for now."

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I read that.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And so they're

not really interested in going back and finding out
just how much Hydro was offering.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I -- I see
that.

MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: Right. So in
all of this I guess the gquestion is, if the whole

reason you got into this in the first place was to get
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the maximum value to pay down the debt of the Town of
Collingwood --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: -— it seems
kind of funny that the leading bidder is really being
given such short shrift.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: In -—- 1if I can say
in my view that there was the list and -- and
individuals marked accordingly and - -and so Hydro One
was not —-- there was no appetite or interest for Hydro
One.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So —-- so
getting cash and the most cash possible from the
successful bidder turned out to be not that important
in the scheme of things.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Well, it was
important but other things were important too, and
looking at future investments in my mind.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Well, fair
enough.

Looking at how the successful bidder
was going to treat staff, that was one?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So included in

that is whether or not the successful bidder is going
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to keep the Collus executive team in power. That's a
consideration?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I wouldn't say
that per se, staff, employees.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: That includes
the executive team.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Well, it would
everyone, yeah.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right, but the

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Including --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: yeah.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: But one (1) of
the features of the way this unfolded is that the
chief of the executive team is highly influential in
the evaluation of the RFP bidders, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And we'll hear

from Mr. Houghton but one (1) of the things that he
may have had a sense of, given the extent of his
contact with PowerStream, is whether or not they were
going to keep on the executive team.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I'm sure of

that.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Now, I won't

turn it up, but you remember that there was an email
from Mr. Longo as the closing approached where Mr.
Longo said the Town's interests and Collus' interests

may not be the same.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I recall.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Now, Mr. Longo
is an excellent lawyer. We can agree on that.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And he had

given a lot of advice to the Town over the years?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, he has.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And you said
that what he was telling you there was an opinion.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: But can I
suggest that almost all of the advice that Mr. Longo
has given the Town over the years has been in the form
of an opinion?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that's true.

MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: And you've
relied on those opinions?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: So he tells you
that these interests are different.

Mr. Houghton, as I understood your
evidence yesterday, was nevertheless selected to
instruct Aird & Berlis on behalf of the Town?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: The Town and
Collus, yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: But if the
interests are different, the Town's interests and
Collus' interests, then how does he -- how does he
give instructions on behalf of both of them?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: The -- the
decision made impacts the people of Collingwood.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: I understand
that.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Which is one (1)
and the same.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. But the

interests of the company may be different than the
interests of the Town.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would disagree
with that. I think it's all encompassing, all one (1)
and the same, in my view.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: All right. So
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: That Collus is
under the umbrella of the Town of Collingwood.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: All right. So

when your long-standing lawyer told you that --
something different, you, even sitting here today, you
reject that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I -- T see that --
I'm not saying I --

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: I'm not sure
about the -- about the nature of the question asked
there. The lawyer said they may be different. He
didn't say that they were different. That's, in my
view, significant for a question to this witness --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: I'm more than
happy to pull up the email, because this is -- the
significant note of caution sounded by Mr. Longo.

THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: Well,
can you -- let's pull up the email, if -- if you've
got the number handy. Can we find the number of that
document?

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. It's

CJI6303.

(BRIEF PAUSE)
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COURT OPERATOR: Counsel, 1is there a
page number?

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Go to paragraph
484.

(BRIEF PAUSE)
CONTINUED BY MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL:

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay. So —--
all right. So here -- that's fine. So this is part
of an exchange, scroll down. You have your answer to
Mr. Longo, document all of the oversight that you've
had, to use your terms, right?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And then if you

scroll up, Mr. Longo says:
"Ron and Corrine are advising
Collus, not the Town. I just want
to note that the Town's interest may
not be identical to Collus."
Do you see that?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I do.
MR. WILLTIAM MCDOWELL: And then 1if we
turn up paragraph 486, there Mr. Longo indicated he

understood was not questioning that Council believe
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interest of the Town.
Mr. Longo then stated:
"My earlier e-mail addressed
something different, i.e., that the
lawyers preparing the agreements are

representing entities other than the

Town."
MS. SANDRA COOPER: I see that, yes.
MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Right. And so,

to go back to my question. If Mr. Houghton is
representing an interest other than the Town's
interest, isn't it difficult for him to represent the
Town's interest as well when he's instructing the

lawyers?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I did not see that
at the time, I -- I'm reading what Mr. Longo has
stated.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. And he

did e-mail that to you at the time?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, he -- yes, he
did. But it was my understanding that it was Collus
under -- or under the umbrella of the Town of

Collingwood and from the list of people that were

involved in oversight, including there were a few

118
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lawyers from Aird & Berlis, four (4) lawyers that --

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: I understand.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I have a comfort
there.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: All right. So,
can I put it this way, that -- that you understood
that the Town was selling its asset.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: That Collus was

the company that was being sold.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: And that you
didn't make a distinction between the interests of the
Town and the interests of Collus in that situation?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I was looking for
the best interest of the Town.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Turn up
paragraph 662. May I ask you, when you're sitting on
the Board of Collus, you didn't accept director's
fees, I take 1it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: On the Board of
Collus there was a director fee of a -- I didn't -- I
accepted a per diem rate for each of the --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: So let me Jjust

look at this and I'll close with this.
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Journal entry produced to the auditor
showed a bonus payment from Collus to Mayor Cooper of

7,500 that had been marked voided.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: SO you were
offered $7,500 as a bonus and you turned it down. 1Is

that what happened?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't recall
having a chegque and returning it. I do recall that I
was —-- I was fine with receiving the per diem.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Okay, and then

if we turn up 663, there is a list of extraordinary
deduction payments to Collus Board and strategic
partnership task team.

It's a bit like looking at the salaries
of a hockey team here, and Dean Muncaster gets $5,700
and it says here that you get 2,400.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: So -- and I
questioned that extraordinary deduction. Those are
per diems for the strategic task team with mine.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Okay, so your
recollection is that this wasn't a bonus, it was Jjust
the per diems?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, a total of

the per diems. That's my understanding.
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MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: All right. Is

it your understanding that no bonuses were paid
following the --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: To me.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: Well, were they
paid to others following the transaction?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I believe so, yes.

MR. WILLIAM MCDOWELL: And do you know
why that was?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It was —-- 1t was
explained to me that after -- for extraordinary
circumstances and that in the business world that
people are recognized for the work they have done.
That was the explanation.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. I
suspect Mr. Muncaster may have brought home bigger
bonuses in his day. But we'll leave that for him.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Well, he's not --
no longer with us, unfortunately.

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Right. All
right, just give me a moment.

Those are the gquestions for the Town.

THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: Thank
you, Mr. McDowell.

Who is next? Mr. Chenoweth. Go ahead.
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CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH:

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Very good,
thank you.

And I'm going to ask my questions from
this location as well. There may be necessity to look
at a number of documents.

I can certainly try, and if I -- if I
fail, please remind me. Thank you.

Collingwood's counsel has asked you a
series of questions about the correspondence that you
had with Leo Longo with respect to this matter.

And -- and I take it that Mr. Longo was
pointing out to you that there may, and he used the
word "may", there may be a difference -- I -- I'm just
about eating my mic.

But in any event, there may be a
difference in interest between Collus and the Town.

He said there may be.
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.

And he asked you to be mindful of that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: I take it
that as a result of -- of that caution from Leo Longo,

that you considered whether there was a difference in
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interest between Collus and the Town? You would have
considered that --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: -- during
the course of that correspondence. Thank you.

And -- and I think you already
expressed it, but I take it that in your judgment at
that time you did not see a -- a difference in
interest between Collus and the Town?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that's
correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: In fact, you

felt they had the same interest?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.
Now, Mr. Longo appears to be injecting
himself into this matter and you already had two (2)

other solicitors working on this at the time, you had

Corrine Kennedy and you had -- you had Ron Clark,
correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that is
correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And I think

one (1) of the things, as I understand it, that you

were concerned about when you were elected was the
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costs of consultants and the costs of lawyers and that
were engaged and paid by the Town and the citizens of
the Town?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that is
correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Would it be
fair to say that one (1) of your concerns with respect
to the involvement of -- the involvement of Mr. Longo
over and above the exercise of due diligence that
Kennedy and Clark were exercising, would it be fair to
say that one (1) of your concerns at that time would
have been the potential for the over-injection of Mr.
Longo into this matter and the costs that might arise
from that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That would have
been one (1) of, yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.

And -- and I take it that the concern
for the costs of that would have been one (1) of the
things that tempered your thinking about not the
involvement of, but the extent of the involvement of
Mr. Longo with respect to the preparation of the two
(2) documents at issue?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That would have

been one (1) of, yes.
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MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: But in fact

you did continue to take the advice of Mr. Longo in
these matters, and in fact he's the gentleman that
explained in detail to you in some conversations had,
I don't know that I have an exact date but the
conversations were had between March 2nd and March
5th, 2012, Mr. Longo was one (1) of the gentleman in a
meeting that explained to you in detail the nature of
the documents that you were about to sign on March
6th.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I do recall that,
yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: So you did,
you did take his advice on an ongoing basis?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.

And I'll come back to that meeting, but
just while we're on it, do I take it that -- and this
may stretch your memory and if it does, tell me,
there's some suggestion that Corrine Kennedy and Ron
Clark were on a -- on -- on the telephone during the
course of that meeting and provided further
instruction and education with respect to the nature
of the documents you were signing?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
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MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
And you remember that to be the case?

All right, very good. 1I'll come back
to that, as I've indicated, at a later time.

An interesting line of guestioning
from, again, Collingwood's counsel, with respect to
thinking about Collus in as late as November and
December of 2010 and -- and really the suggestion from

Collingwood's counsel that Mr. Houghton was off on a

lark of his own by meeting with -- with Brian Bentz.
First of all, I -- I take it that you
wouldn't have been privy -- privy to discussions had

between Mr. Muncaster, who you highly respected, and
Mr. Houghton as to whether or not Mr. Houghton should
approach Mr. Bentz.

You don't know whether they had
discussions about that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't know that.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And you

don't know whether Mr. Houghton was instructed by Mr.

Muncaster to -- to have conversations with Mr. Bentz?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't recall
that.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And you
weren't -- you weren't privy to those -- those
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conversations that Mr. Houghton had with Mr. Bentz in
a phone call in late November 2010 and at the Sunset
Grill Breakfast on December 3rd, 2010, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That's correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: So other
than the notes that we've seen from Mr. Bentz, you
really don't know what they discussed?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That's correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.

So if Mr. Houghton was to tell us that
those discussions were had at -- the phrase seems to
be a 30,000 foot level about the -- about the status
of the industry, about the success that -- that
PowerStream had had with its amalgamation approach,
and about potential paths to keep Collus as a highly
functional and capable organization as it had been
that day, if that was the nature of the discussion
that was had an Mr. Houghton tells us that, you

wouldn't be in a position to say otherwise.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That is correct,
wasn't there.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.

Now I'm -- I'm interested in the
suggestion really made by Town Council again, that
this business of -- of looking at the future of Collu

127
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was a —-- a novel idea and the suggestion is that Mr.
Houghton and/or Mr. Houghton and Mr. Muncaster were
off on a lark of their own with respect to this.

I suggest to you that that's completely
inaccurate. And I'm -- I'm going to take you through
a set of facts and see if --

MR. WILLTAM MCDOWELL: Just -- Jjust
before you do that. 1It's a small point, but when you
say "Town counsel", you might want to say "lawyer"
because we're going to have the spelling problem
between the "il" and the "el".

No, I'm serious about that.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right,
if my friend is serious, I'm quite happy to refer to
him as the Town lawyer, and if I do otherwise, I trust

you'll correct me again.

CONTINUED BY MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH:
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: In any
event, it's pretty clear that when you came to office

in 2010 that Collingwood was concerned about its debt?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And we've --
we've heard some numbers tossed around and -- and
frankly, I don't know what the numbers are. Maybe you
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can edify us a little bit with respect to the nature
of the debt that the Town of Collingwood faced when
you came to office in December of -- of 2010.
MS. SANDRA COOPER: There was a lot of
spending prior to my being -- come the -- being

elected as mayor.

The previous term I knew that decisions
that were made there would be impacted. On my first
term and going forward there were some large projects,
such as the downtown revitalization, and there was an
opportunity for a funding partner with the upper tier
governments and the Town of Collingwood was not even
in a position to take money out of reserves to partner
with the -- with the upper tier government.

The Town had to borrow that money in
order to partner and receive funding. The other was
the new -- well, it's not new now, the Collingwood
Public Library was another new add-on facility which
was —-- it came in just under budget. I believe it was
around 8 million. And it was a -- a lead building,
which is an added cost.

And looking at the growth of our
community, the growth pressures, and residents moving
here and we're expecting had an expectation of things.

So there were pressures of spending and it -- it goes
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back and it catches up eventually because you --

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: So really
what you're telling me is that there's a number of
examples that illustrate that when you became mayor in
December of 2010, there were a number of examples of
where Collingwood was having difficulty participating
in or achieving the projects it wanted to achieve

because of it's debt?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: They did not have
reserve -- reserves, they had to borrow. That is
correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.

When I started out my question, and I appreciate for -
- identification because it's very helpful, I was
simply wondering about a gquestion -- or, sorry,
wondering about an amount.

Do -- again, we've had a few amounts
tossed around. Do you happen to remember, and you may
not, what the amount of that debt was in or about
December of 20107

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I recall around 50
million.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: So Mr.
Marron was right with respect to that figure.

In any event, this was something that
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you'd considered in the run-up to your inauguration as
mayor in December of 2010.

And in fact, it was part of your
campaign?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And you felt
it was important to the Town?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: In fact, as
I understand it, you campaigned on reducing
Collingwood's debt?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, my brochure
went door-to-door.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Right.
Hence an interest in things like the cost of too many
lawyers involved in projects and things of that

nature, Jjust to go back to that example?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Well, no
disrespect. However, looking at all ways of savings.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Yes, indeed.

So you ran on that is the point of it all.
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I did.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And you
would have been aware, around the time of your

election, as a number of people in the know in the
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community would've been aware, that the province was
giving some thought to reducing the number of LDCs in
the province?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that is
correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: You would
have known that at an early time in your term?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And I
suspect that it wouldn't shock you to learn that as
early as January of 2010, and I don't have the
document number or else I'd take you to it -- sorry,
2010. Yes. 2010, January of 2010, that there were
discussions around the Collus board table in which
they discussed the future of Collus and how it would
keep up with changing times.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, i1t was a
small utility and that was an impact.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And -- and
maybe you might remember the document to which I'm
referring, but Mr. McFadden sent a letter to the Board
in -- Board in which you were -- let me think about
that for a second. A Board that you weren't yet on in
January of 2010, in which he suggested that Collus is

going to have to examine how it's going to keep up in
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changing times.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I wouldn't have
seen that at the time.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Wouldn't
have seen that, but it wouldn't surprise you that --
that people with the -- with the skill in this
industry such as David McFadden, would be making those
kinds of thoughts to the Board.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That's -- I agree
with you.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.

I put to you that as a result of the culmination of
all of those things, that the thought of changing or
adjusting, given the debt, given the province's
direction, given what we learned at various
conferences that you'd been at to that time, that
people would have been aware that Collus -- and I'm
now talking about when you came into office -- that
people would have been aware that Collus and its wvalue
would have been one (1) of the ways of reducing the
Collingwood debt?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And that was
something that you would have thought of as far back

as when you're running for the election, running for
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mayor in -- in October of 20107
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Right, thank
you.
And I -- I take it that if you're

thinking about it, that there's others in the
community that are thinking about it too, for
instance, the Councillors of the Town of Collingwood?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I would
expect that.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.

So that it would not surprise you that
-- that it was a topic of some discussion amongst the
Councillors of the Town of Collingwood in or about the
time of the election and in or about your election in
--— in -- your -- your successful run for the office in

—-— 1in October of 20107

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: So the
prospect of Collus changing, the prospect of -- of the

value of Collus, value which the Town needed to reduce
its debt, would have been something that was -- it was
on the minds of you and on the minds of -- of
Collingwood Councillors as early as the time of your

election in October of 20107
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
So the -- and it wouldn't surprise you,

I take it, that it would have been also on the minds
of the people who were charged with the responsibility
of running Collus, i.e. Dean Muncaster and David
McFadden and -- and their president and CEO who
answered to the board, people like Ed Houghton who
wouldn't surprise you that that was on their mind.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Absolutely.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And it
wouldn't surprise you that they --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I should say yes,
excuse me.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Wouldn't
surprise you that they might do things about that and

discuss those prospects at a board level?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. I would
expect that.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And -- and I
take it the fact that -- that with all the discussions

you've described that were going on about the Town's
debt and about one (1) of its major assets, Collus, it
would not be surprising to you, in fact it may be

surprising if it wasn't happening, it would not be
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surprising to you that -- that on the instructions of
Dean Muncaster people like Ed Houghton might'wve been
having discussions with a variety of people in the
industry about the future of Collus.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That is correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: I -- I take
it you'd be a little shocked if they went?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I had attended
many, over the years, EDA, Electricity Distribution
Association conference our annual meetings.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Yes.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: And there was
gquite a reduction in LDC participation from when I had
attended initially, and sometime later attending. And
part of that discussion was a reduction in LDCs.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: People
involved in this industry knew that it was changing
and knew that there was going to be some mergers and
acquisitions and significant changes in the industry,
and they knew that around the time, or frankly even
prior to your election, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I would say that
was accurate.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: So that your

correspondence that you had Ed Houghton draft for you
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in late January, January 30th and 31st, 2011, didn't
simply come out of the blue.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That is correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.

And it came out of the thinking that --
that got you elected by the townsfolk, i.e. reducing
debt and considering what the future of Collus was
going to be?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And when you
-- and again, these were matters that were on the
minds of the Councillors in or about this period of
time?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Certainly the
finances of the Town --

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Yes.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: -—- yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And -- and -
- and the future of Collus, because it was your
largest asset in terms of the finances.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It -- in terms of

the finances.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And again,
it was on the minds of the Collus Board because they -

- their ear would be to the ground, as yours was, with
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respect to the changes that were taking place?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And you, in
your letter to Mr. Houghton of -- I'm sorry, yes. To

Mr. Houghton and drafted by Mr. Houghton in January of

2011, you told him to get a wvaluation.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that is
correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.

And I take it -- and we've -- there's

been some questions, some discussions about this
already, a valuation can from time to time be a
precursor to the prospect of a sale?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It could be.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: So that the
prospect of a sale of Collus was clearly something
that was -- the prospect, in any event, that was one
(1) of the options.

The prospect of a sale was something
that was on your mind clearly in the January 31st
correspondence that Mr. Houghton drafted for you and

you sent to him?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, it was my
understanding that the province would be -- continue
to be putting pressure -- pressure to bear on --
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MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: On the minds

of Councillors and the Board --

THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: I -1
don't think Ms. Cooper finished her answer.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Certainly,
Your Honour.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Thank you. So it
certainly was something that there was provincial
political or pol -- provincial pressures in the
electricity industry, and I had seen that first-hand
and I'm sure others that may have attended the
conference or received correspondence or magazines
dealing with the energy or the electricity industry

would have seen that.

CONTINUED BY MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH:

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
Moving along. My friend, the Town's lawyer, directed
you to paragraph 138 of the Foundation document. And
I'm -- I'm looking at it now. I -- I don't know
whether you need to have it brought up or not, I'm --
I'm going to make a reference. In that exchange of
correspondence between Houghton and Bonwick, Mr.
Houghton seems to have said it's important that Rick

does not know what I'm doing.
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You didn't write that correspondence,
you didn't receive the correspondence.
MS. SANDRA COOPER: Correct.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: You -- from

that brief bit of correspondence and e-mail, do you
have really any understanding of what Mr. Houghton was

suggesting Rick should not know?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No, there's no
indication. There may be a suggestion, but I also
think that Mr. Houghton was over -- had some oversight

over Public Works and Engineering, so I'm not sure
what --

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Right. He
had lots of involvements in the Town, didn't he?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Many hats.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.

So we'll have to leave it to Mr.
Houghton, I take it, to tell us what his reference to
-- was to in that letter.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I think that would
be best.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.

(BRIEF PAUSE)
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MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Coming back

for the moment to your letter that we've spoken of
January 31st. Actually, it's not January 31lst, it's
the letter that you wrote to Brian Bentz, in which you
gave your thoughts about the involvement of Mr.
Bonwick with PowerStream.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Okay.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: You —-- you
have told us that you understood that Mr. Bonwick was
involved in media relations and -- and -- and PR,
that's what you rather understood his job to be?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.

I was interested in the fact that in
the letter you wrote to Mr. Bentz, you talked about
the -- about involvement in those two (2) things, but
you also used the word "acqguisitions".

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, I saw that in
the letter.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And I take
it that when you did so, you were describing, along
with PR and media relations, you were describing the
jobs that you understood that Mr. Bonwick would be
involved in with PowerStream, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
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MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
So that when you wrote that letter to
Mr. Bentz, you understood that Mr. Bonwick might also
be involved with Collingwood -- I'm sorry. Might also

be involved with PowerStream with respect to the

prospect of acquisitions to be made in the future by

PowerStream?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I saw that in the
letter, yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Good, thank
you. And as I understand it, you went on in the
letter to say that there's -- might be some future

developments, and I'm paraphrasing to some extent,
there might be some future developments with
Collingwood that would require you to revisit a
question of Mr. Bonwick's involvement in PowerStream?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: In so many words,
yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: I -1 -1
take it that there's little gquestion that that would
have been a reference to what you had already been
thinking of to that date, i.e., the possible sale of
Collus. True?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It would have been

considering opportunities for Collus.
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MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Collus.

Indeed. 1Indeed. Considering opportunities for
Collus, and if opportunities for Collus in the future
involve PowerStream, then there may have to be some --
not have to be, but it had been suggested there might
be a further meeting, an in-person meeting --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: -- to
discuss that prospect.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And that's
what you put in your letter?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.

And I suggest to you that things had
progressed by June 29th of 2011. And in fact, you had
that meeting?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that's
correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.

And that further meeting took place --
I think you said it took place in your office, didn't
it? Or maybe it was in the Council chamber.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Council board

room.
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MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: In the
boardroom. Very good.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: In Town hall.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And those in
attendance were yourself, Mr. Bentz, and tell me, was
Mr. Bonwick there at that?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. I believe he
was .

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: You believe
he was. Are -- are you certain of that? Because

there's a suggestion here that maybe you were going to
be talking about Mr. Bonwick, if this is the meeting
that was contemplated, the later meeting contemplated
by your -- by your letter to Mr. Bentz, it would see
that you would have been discussing Mr. Bonwick.

And in that light, I'm wondering if
that refreshes your memory as to whether or not Mr.
Bonwick was or was not at that meeting, if you were
going to be discussing him.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: As I had stated
earlier, that I recall that there were several
participants in the board room.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Right.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: And Mr. Bentz was

there, the CAO was there, --
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MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Ms.
Wingrove?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Ms. Wingrove, yes.
And myself and --

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Mr. Houghton
wasn't there, as I -- as I recall it.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No, he was not in
attendance.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Okay, thank

you. And I didn't want to cut you off and maybe I'm -
- I'm doing that and I apologize if I did so, Your
Honour.

You were telling us who was -- who was
in attendance.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: And I'm trying to
recall back. I don't have an attendance record and
I'm trying to recall who -- who all was in attendance.

I believe that Mr. -- I keep saying
Mr., but Mayor Jeff Lehman was in attendance I
believe, as well.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Yes that's -
- that's true, as I understand it.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: At least he had
been invited.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Is it --
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there is other evidence to suggest that Mr. Bonwick
wasn't at that meeting.

Are you in a position to say that that
evidence is wrong?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: No.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: It may in
fact be that Mr. Bonwick was not at that June 29th
meeting.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That -- 1if the
evidence shows that, that could very well be.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And again,
the meeting appears to be had as a follow-up meeting
to your letter to Mr. Bentz that if things developed,
i.e. the possible sale of Collus, that we'd have -- we
may have to meet again to discuss the position of Mr.
Bonwick with PowerStream?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And I -- I -
- I take it that it's common ground between us that at
the meeting of June 29th with things having progressed
to the stage where there's a valuation of Collus going
on, et cetera, when things haven't progressed at that
stage there was in fact a discussion with Mr. Bentz
and others in the room about the fact that Mr. Bonwick

was asking -- was acting on behalf of -- of
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PowerStream, in those circumstances.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I recall being --
it being an introductory meeting at that time. And I
don't recall the detail of the meeting.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right,
thank you.

THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: Are
you —-- are you -- I don't want to interrupt, but are
you about to move on to something else?

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: I -—- I just
would finish this area in -- in a brief second.

THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: Sure,

go ahead. Go ahead.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you,

Your Honour.

CONTINUED BY MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH:

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: So that
given your memory of the meeting --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: -- I —-- 1
take it it would not surprise you that there may be
evi -- not surprise you, but you would not dismiss
evidence of others that suggested that the -- the

involvement -- the continuing involvement of Mr.
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Bonwick for PowerStream, when Collus was being sold,
was a conversation at the June 29th meeting?
You wouldn't say that -- you -- you're

not in a position, given your memory, to say that that
didn't occur?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't recall the
details of the meeting.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
Thank you.

And one (1) last question, Your Honour,
and thank you.

I take it that -- that in the
circumstances that existed at the time, i.e., the
valuation of Collus and the potential sale of Collus,
an introductory meeting, as you've describe it with
Mr. Bentz and Mr. Bonwick, acting for PowerStream that
no one raised any alarms or particular concerns about
-—- about those circumstances in that meeting of June

29th, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That is correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you,
Your Honour.

THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: All
right. We'll break for lunch, but can we come back at

a quarter to 2:00 to try to move this along.
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—-——- Upon resuming at 1:48 p.m.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank vyou,

Your Honour.

CONTINUED BY MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH:

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Ms. Cooper,

149

my friend, the lawyer for the Town of Collingwood, had

suggested to you that KPMG wasn't part of the
strategic partnership concept.
My friend had suggested that KPMG

wasn't part of the strategic partnership, the

evolution of that concept, and -- and didn't recommend

50/50. 1In particular he said that KPMG did not do a
report with respect to a strategic partnership with a
50/50 split, and I think we know that that's likely
true. However, as I understand it, KPMG in their
report did talk about the sale of a minority interest
up to and including 50 percent.

Is that your understanding?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That -- yes, that
is my understanding.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: So to that

extent, KPMG did deal with a 50 percent sale in its
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report, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: In so many words,
yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Yes, thank
you.

And indeed KPMG, you would have been
involved in -- in not only Board meetings but Board
meetings with -- of Collus and Collus Power, but also
you would have been involved in the strategic task
force team.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that is
correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And -- and I
take it that KPMG continued to have input in the
discussions that were happening at the Board level
with respect to the involve -- to the evolving nature
of what would eventually take place.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. KPMG were at

Board meetings, vyes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
And KPMG where it doesn't appear for the first meeting
or two, KPMG did not appear to be regarded as a member
of the strategic task team, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: But KPMG
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became a member of the strategic task team, and John
Herhalt of KPMG was at the meetings of the strategic
task team on an ongoing basis after the first couple
of meetings, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that is
correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: So that KPMG
would have been part of, and his comments and thinking
would have been part of, the development of the
eventual recommendation by the Board to pursue the
strategic partnership, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And KPMG
would have played a role in and given advice on the --
the strategic partnership idea that eventually came

out of the strategic task force.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: They were in
attendance -- participated all along. They were in
attendance.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And they --

and they gave input, as did other strategic task force
members, that led to the conclusion that a strategic
partnership would be recommended.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, they

participated all along with Board members.
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MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank vyou.

So that to simply say that they didn't do a report on
the strategic task force -- I'm sorry, to simply say
that they didn't do a report on a 50/50 partnership is

far from the end of the story, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, correct.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
Is it -- is it fair to say that the strategic

partnership concept was an evolving idea? In other
words, we didn't start out with a strategic
partnership idea and it -- it wasn't -- although it
was -- the prospect of a 50/50 partnership would have
been one (1) of the considerations in the report, the
idea of a strategic partnership 50/50 evolved through
the course of the time that the Collus Board and the
strategic task force team discussed this.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
And I think you said that you were uncertain as to who
came up with the strategic partnership or 50/50
concept. That was your evidence as I recall.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That 1is correct.
I don't know the specific person.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And -- and I

--— I put it to you that -- that that's a very
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supportable conclusion, given the fact that the idea
of a strategic partnership came out of the efforts of
the Board, KPMG, and the strategic task force, all
making a contribution to that eventual conclusion of a
strategic partnership.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. There was
that discussion.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: But the
point is it was an evolving discussion.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It was. It was up
to 50 percent. It was a -- a strategic partner, and
then it did come forward eventually as 50 percent.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: As a result
of the involving -- of the evolving discussions of the
groups I've mentioned, the Board, the STT, and the
input of the KPMG.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
I'm going to move for a moment to the question of
solar vents, and I have to go back a ways to -- to get
where I think is the appropriate place with respect to
this matter.

You had been a councillor of the Town
of Collingwood for how many years?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I had been for
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twenty-one (21) years.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Good. And I
take it that as a staff member did Ed Houghton come
before you as a staff member of the -- of the Town of
--— of Collingwood and of Collus? I understand he
joined in '77.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That was before my
time.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Very good.
So when you became a councillor and started to work

with Council, Ed Houghton would have already been

there.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, that is
correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And by the
you became the mayor in -- and were inaugurated in
December of -- of 2010, he was the most senior staff

person at the Town.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That is likely
correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
I -—-— I'm interested in -- in your -- your assessment

of Mr. Houghton in or about the time that you became
mayor in the fall of -- of 2010.

As a result of being a councillor for
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all those years, I take it that you had run into Mr.

Houghton with some frequency.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, we would see
-—- see one (1) another, run into one (1) another,
those terms.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Run into --
run into another with respect to Town business.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Because he -
- he was President and CEO of Collus, he was head of

the Utility or Water Group in Collingwood --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: -- and he
was also head of -- of Public Works, which involved

roads and buses and all the moving parts of
Collingwood.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Fair to say

that he had a substantial role in what went on in

Collingwood?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And I take
it that -- is -- would it be fair to suggest that as a

councillor and eventually the mayor of Collingwood,

you had developed a trust for the activities of Ed
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Houghton in his job as a staffer person?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: As a long-time

staff person for the Town of Collingwood, yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Yes.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I -- I did have a
trust.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
And I think there's more that comes out of the -- the
phrasing you've chosen with respect to that answer. I

take it that as a person of the Town of Collingwood,
was it -- was it your observation in the many years
that you worked with Mr. Houghton that he appeared to
have the best interests of the Town of Collingwood and
the residents of Collingwood at heart, as he did his

job over those years?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It appeared to be,
yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Yes. And
you don't recall anything that -- that up to the time

that you became mayor, that led you to doubt that he

was a -- a trusted servant of the Town of Collingwood?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: That is correct.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.

And is it fair to say that that was his general

reputation in the community, someone who had the Town
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of Collingwood and its interests at heart?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I think so.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
And as I understand it, Mr. Houghton had the good
fortune to, and I may misstate the nature of the -- or
the name of the -- the award, but he was -- received
the -- what is it, Collingwood Man of the Year or what

-- what 1is 1it?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It's not Man of

the Year. It's —--

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: But --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: -- Order of
Collingwood.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you
very much. I'm sorry I missed it.

And in any event, he received the Order

of Collingwood at some time through the course of his

career.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. That --

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And I take
it that --

MS. SANDRA COOPER: -- that is what I
understand.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: That speaks

to his reputation.
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.
Now, my friend Mr. McDowell was asking you about --
about the solar wvent project.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: M-hm.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And in
particular he was questioning you about the
appropriateness that if Mr. Houghton had an interest -
- a business interest of some kind in the solar
project in which he was making some personal gain, you
indicated that you believed that that would have been

something that Mr. Houghton should have revealed.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: It -- it may
be that it -- that it -- this comes you with some

relief, but I understand the evidence of Mr. Houghton
will be that he had no business interest at all, no

financial interest at all, in the solar vent project.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Thank you.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.
And that's -- that would be, I take it, more in

keeping with what you knew of him personally and his
reputation with respect to trust, correct?
MS. SANDRA COOPER: From what I knew

of him as -- as staff, an employee of the Town of
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Collingwood, vyes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: So that if
he had no business interest at all in the -- in the
solar vent project, and if that is confirmed by his
evidence and the evidence of others, then I take it
when it came to his bringing the solar vent project to
the Board of Collus and bringing it to the Town of
Collingwood, there'd be nothing for him to reveal,
correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And as we
sit here today, you don't really know, other than what
I told you about his anticipated evidence, as to
whether or not Mr. Houghton did or did not have a

business interest in the solar project?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I'm not aware of
that.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: So that will
have to unfold itself as other -- as other evidence

comes before this commission, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
Now, my friend Mr. McDowell took you through a number
of correspondence that appear to reveal that Mr.

Bonwick had received a substantial amount of
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information with respect to the progress of the sale
of Collus.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.
And I take it that as you sit here today, you don't
know where that information that Mr. Bonwick had came
from?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: You don't

know whether it came from Mr. Houghton or not.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I know where it
came from.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Mr. Houghton
or —-- or Rick Lloyd or --

THE HONOURABLE FRANK MARROCCO: The
witness has indicated that she doesn't know where it
came from.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you,

Your Honour.

CONTINUED BY MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH:

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And others
that might have had that kind of information would
have included other members of the strategic task

force, I'm assuming?
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, they would.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And after
Council became fully involved, other members of
Council, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. There would
have been a presentation.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
Could we turn to TOC0066378? And I know I'm going to
have trouble with these document numbers, Your Honour,
so I'm giving -- giving the commission notice of that
and I hope I can manage to get through without
fumbling the document numbers.

Could we just move down, or up in that
to get to the information that was translated? Yeah.
All right.

We saw an email at earlier times this
morning in which it appeared that information was
exchanged between Mr. Bonwick and Mr. Houghton with
respect to the timetable relating to the Collus sale,
i.e., when the -- when the RFPs were going to go out,

when they'd be required to come back, matters of that

nature.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: I -1 --1I
take it that you would agree that -- that none of that
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information was financial in nature. In other words,
there wasn't a discussion about price.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: That is correct.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.
Would you know whether -- if other bidders asked for
this information with respect to timing so they could
understand what the timing of this matter was, would
you know whether -- either it was or could be relayed
by Houghton or others to other bidders?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: I don't know
whether it was. Could it be? If it -- I guess that's
possible.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.
In other words, I'm putting to you that -- that the
kind of information that appears to have been
revealed, i.e., the timing of certain items in the
bidding process, et cetera, was innocuous information
that really didn't have a -- a significant or
important impact on the bids or the bids that were
eventually taken.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: There were no
financial pricing on -- on that --

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: I suggest to
you it wasn't impactful information.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It wasn't detailed
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information, in my estimation.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Not
particularly impactful because everyone would clearly
have understood at some juncture what the course of

activities would be with respect to the RFP, correct?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: They would.
MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
Now, I was interested in the -- in the criteria that

were eventually used, or differentiating between the
bidders.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Little doubt
that this was discussed at the Board level, those
criteria?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, it would
have.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
And little doubt the criteria was also discussed at
the level of the strategic task force team.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It was a fulsome
discussion, yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
And there were nine (9) thoughtful people at this
point, including KPMG, on the strategic task force?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. Those would
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have been the participants.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And there
was representatives of Collus and there were
representatives of the Town?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And you say
it was a fulsome discussion with respect to the
development of those criteria?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: All right.
And I take it that would have been both at the Board
level and at the STT level?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes. I'm trying
to just in my mind --

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Yes.

MS. SANDRA COOPER: -— the board and

then separate to the task team.

(BRIEF PAUSE)

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: So that you
felt that certainly, the STT team, in any event, had a
fulsome opportunity to discuss those criteria before
they were used, and to put input into those criteria?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.
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MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank vyou.

And there were some questions raised about the choice
of the seventy (70) non-financial and thirty (30)
financial choice?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Help me
understand why you and others on the Strategic Task
Team felt that that was an appropriate split? And let
me —-- maybe to be -- just -- maybe assist you a little
bit, I -- I take it that you were anxious -- you —--
you were selling a big chunk of a valuable asset of
the Town of Collingwood?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, contemplating
that, vyes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Collus, and
it had served the Town of Collingwood well, and its

residents up to that time?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, it had.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And I take
it that one (1) of the concerns of -- of Council and
the -- and the people of Collingwood would have been
as —-- as you would've adjudged that -- at that time,
to ensure that -- that Collingwood and its residents

continued to have an input into how their power was

distributed throughout the community?
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MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And you felt
that was something of significant value?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And the Town
of Collingwood's always been concerned about its --
about its employees and -- in spite of the remarks of
Mr. McDowell, or the -- or -- or certainly Collus has
been?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes, all
employees.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And -- and

you felt that that was an admirable thing for Collus
to consider doing?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And I take
it from the 70/30 split that clearly, there was a wish
to get some dollars and cents for -- for debt
reduction in the Town of Collingwood, obviously?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: The needs of the
municipality, yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Right. But
there was a significant and -- obviously a greater
significant concern to ensure that the Town of

Collingwood had a -- was -- was able to have its -- to
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have Collus move forward in a constructive way, for
the Town would continue to contribute to what Collus
was doing, and that would have a -- a good strategic
partner that would allow that to happen?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: And it were
-- it was those kinds of interests that motivated the
STT team in particular to conclude that a 70/30 split
between non-financial and financial was appropriate?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: So it really
was the reality that they did -- really wasn't all
about dollars and cents?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: It wasn't all
about dollars and cents. That is correct. And it was
looking to the future as well of Collus and the
residents of Collingwood.

MR. FREDERICK CHENOWETH: Thank you.
And I take it was eventually concluded that -- that
that was best served by a 50/50 strategic partnership
arrangement?

MS. SANDRA COOPER: Yes.

(BRIEF PAUSE)
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